
1 

BETHLEHEM AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD OF SCHOOL DIRECTORS 

BUDGET HEARING 

 

MAY 11, 2010 

A Budget Hearing of the Board of School Directors of the Bethlehem Area 

School District was held on Monday, May 11, 2010, at 6:14 p.m. in the Dining 

Room of the Education Center,  1516 Sycamore Street, Bethlehem, 

Pennsylvania. 

 

BUDGET  

HEARING 

 

The Board Secretary called the roll: 

Members present: Directors Amato, Burkhardt, Cann, Dexter, Follweiler, 

Leeson, McKeon, and Ortiz ï 8 

Members absent: Faccinetto ï 1   

 

MEMBERS 

PRESENT 

 

Others present: Dr. Thomas Persing, Interim Superintendent of Schools; Stacy 

M. Gober, Board Secretary; administrators, members of the press, and other 

interested citizens and staff members.  

 

OTHERS 

PRESENT 

President Leeson welcomed everyone to the meeting.  She apologized for the 

lateness of the board.  She noted that they had an executive session concerning 

personnel just prior to the meeting and they ran over time. 

 

WELCOME 

President Leeson offered courtesy of the floor to visitors. Speakers are asked 

to come to the podium, stating their name and address. Public comment in the 

first session is limited to 30 minutes. Speakers are limited to three minutes 

each. The board requests that, when possible, all individuals supporting a like 

position on a topic select a speaker to present their views to avoid repetition. If 

that is not possible, all are welcome to speak. As per school board policy, 

generally, speakers are limited to taxpayers, residents, or employees of this 

school district. At the conclusion of the regular school board meeting, another 

block of time will be allocated for public comment. At that time, the same rules 

will apply. It is asked that speakers observe proper decorum, without personal 

attacks towards a specific individual or individuals. It is not the custom for the 

board to enter into a dialogue at these meetings about concerns.  However, the 

board does listen with care to issues raised. Speakers will receive responses, in 

some form, by the administration. 

 

 The following individuals addressed the Board of School Directors: 

 

1. Margot Hillman ï 1256 Moffitt Avenue, Bethlehem ï  

 

Ms. Hillman stated that her son, Ben Kraft, is a junior at Liberty High 

School.  She indicated that her remarks are very general compared to what 

she is certain the board will be addressing.  She thanked the members for 

serving on the school board.  She stated that she is sure there are times that 

it seems like a thankless position.  She offered three thoughts to the board 

as they work on the budget. 

- ñKeep your eye on the ball.ò 

- ñEducation is more than what happens in the classroom.ò 

COURTESY  

OF THE FLOOR  

TO VISITORS 



2 

- ñSpend it now or spend it later.ò 

She recalled that the best piece of parenting advice she ever received was to 

ñkeep your eye on the ballò.  She continued that as a parent, the ball is the 

kind of adult you wish your child to become.  She hopes to raise a thinking, 

caring adult, capable of living a reasonably happy and productive life.  She 

noted that the school district has a similar goal or mission.  It may be easier 

to raise automatons or excellent test takers but that would not serve the 

cityôs or countryôs needs.  She continued that they all know that education is 

more than what happens in the classroom but she thinks it bears repeating.  

She stated that obviously what happens in the classroom is crucial but 

beyond the classroom needs are more likely to be challenged in tough 

economic times.  She explained that children need to feel safe in school and 

they need to feel that they belong.  She continued learning is difficult 

without this baseline.  She noted that she does not think her son would be 

the person he is if he had not participated in Odyssey of the Mind and 

MathCounts before going to Liberty.  She said that strategy clubs, 

scholastic scrimmage and the math team gave him a home and helped him 

find his peer groups as he adjusted to life at Liberty.  She believes that he 

would not be doing as well as he is without these extra-curricular activities.  

She continued that as much as she is frustrated by the cultural focus on 

sports, she recognizes that sports also provide the ñhomeò, the ñanchorò for 

many school children.  She noted that the key activity is going to be 

different for different kids but having a range of such activities may be key 

to having a successful school.  ñSpend it now or spend it lateròé she stated 

that they can replace a few tiles on a slate roof every year or wait until you 

have to replace the whole roof because years of exposure has damaged the 

rafters.  She wants the board to know that there are Bethlehem residents 

who understand that if they do not spend money on our schools now, they 

will spend more in taxes later on police, on drug and alcohol rehabilitation, 

and prisons.  She firmly believes, be assured, that they will spend the 

money one way or the other.  She clarified that she does not mean that they 

must spend unlimited amounts of money on our schools but they must be 

sure they are funding the elements that are important to educate our 

children.  She encouraged the board to keep their eye on the ball, remember 

that education is more than what happens in the classroom and to fund the 

most important elements of our school system.  She wished the board all the 

best as they and district staff figure out what those elements are and how to 

manage in these challenging budgetary times.  She further noted that she 

brought three copies that she could leave with the board. 

 

2. Steve Antalics ï 77 Ridge Street, Bethlehem ï 

 

Mr. Antalics stated that all he can say is from last nightôs meeting it became 

very clear to get the children to get diplomas based upon their ability to get 

out of the school qualified to move on.  In that respect, he suggested they go 

to the very beginning, preschool and kindergarten.  He noted that there they 

establish a learning ability in the children and at the college level they are 

appalled at the students at the first level inability to write a good sentence or 

proceed in math.  He noted that in preschool and kindergarten are children 

who are qualified but donôt have the proper parental guidance so therefore if 

they wish to get them out the front door with a diploma, he suggested to 



3 

equipment them at the very fundamental level, Pre-K or K.  So therefore, 

moneyé where do they want to refocus their money?  He stated that if they 

want the children to go out the front door with diplomas, then equip them 

early on to be proficient in math and reading before they get into the 

process.  He noted that if they get into the process not equipped to read well 

they are going to fail by definition in math and in reading.  He noted that 

the scores have shown that the district is deficient in these areas.  He asked 

where they want to put their money, with the kids before they start Pre-K 

and K.  So these programs should be absolutely essential and funded as 

such and other programs, whatever they are, should be either eliminated or 

cut or diminished in terms of the funds allocated.  He told the board to keep 

their eye on the mission, get the kids out of the front door with diplomas, 

but to start them out with the best ability to get to that final level. 

 

President Leeson thanked the administration for the excellent budget 

presentation.  She noted that she has been a board member for eleven years and 

has participated in eleven budgets and this is by far the best presentation that 

she has seen.  She continued that she also has had the opportunity to serve on 

the Northampton Community College board and on the Vo-Tech board and 

although they do a super job, this was really outstanding.  She continued that 

the board gave them the charge to bring a needs based budget.  She noted that 

they took that charge very seriously and that is what they brought the board but 

they also brought the goals, the objectives and how it was going to fit into the 

district and how they are going to reach their objectives through this budget.  

She thanked them again for such a professional presentation and an outstanding 

job.   

 

President Leeson turned the meeting over to Dr. Persing.  He stated that this 

budget is his responsibility and he accepts it fully.  He continued that the 

important thing is that all of the administrators involved made a superb 

contribution along with the principals and teachers and everyone else.  He 

stated that without a team effort this would never have happened.   

 

Dr. Persing stated that their goals have not changed.  He recalled that they must 

maintain and reestablish fiscal and financial integrity.  He noted that is number 

one and if they donôt do that all the other things, as noble as they are, canôt 

happen.  He explained that when they see that they are asking the board to take 

a courageous step of what looks to be a substantial tax increase, it really means 

that they are investing in the future.  He noted that this is not a one year budget 

but that it is a future budget and they have to build on that.  He stated that he 

really does not need to tell the board that it is part of that integrity they must 

reestablish their AAA rating and they are on good steps towards that.  He 

continued that the curriculum and instruction includes a lot of things that need 

to be done next year if they are going to have the situation in the curriculum 

and instruction office that are presently planned.  The last item he noted was to 

maintain the pride and the esprit de corps of the Bethlehem Area School 

District and make sure that is in the forefront.  He reminded the board that they 

are Bethlehem Area School District.  He stated that he is very proud to have the 

privilege to serve the district for the limited time he has been there.  

 

BUDGET 

PRESENTATION 

 



4 

 
 

Mrs. Gober began by explaining that what they have put together is essentially 

more information for everyone and it is premised primarily in responding to the 

questions that were raised when they were together last.  She noted that there 

were a lot of questions from the board and community and they took this 

opportunity to reiterate and bring back additional information as almost another 

layer to the analysis tool kit so that they can go through and understand what it 

is that they are requesting as an administration and that they can work through 

the development process together.  

 



5 

 
 

She noted that the first question she had in her notes is ñWhat is the total 

increase that is permitted under ACT 1 as it relates to the Index, exceptions, 

millage rates, and percentage increases?ò  She noted that she restructured the 

slide in just a little different fashion to focus on the Index as it is stated for 

Bethlehem as a baseline is 3.6% which would allow them to levy $4 million, 

1.49 mils or 3.6%.  She stated that they then applied to the Department of 

Education for all exceptions for which they qualified.  She stated that there are 

three. One is school construction for the debt service.  Based on the debt 

schedules comparing ó09-10 and ó10-11 they are permitted to increase an 

additional $2.4 million or 2.16% to cover the increase debt obligation for ó10-11.  

She stated that they also were able to qualify for an exception to cover the 

increase in the PSERS rate which is another $1.5 million or 1.35%.  She noted 

the largest exception was maintenance of local revenue.  She stated that she 

believes this is key in understanding a little bit of history of how they got where 

they are today.  She noted that when the State compares Bethlehem to other 

LEAôs across the Commonwealth and the districtôs own existing expenditures, 

what this number represents is that Bethlehem is locally funding revenue for its 

students per average daily membership of $4.4 million or 1.6 mils, 4% of a tax 

increase.  She thinks that goes to some extent of some prior history of utilizing 

fund balance to balance the budget as a revenue source rather than looking to 

implement millage to pay for on-going expenditures, things like utilities, on-

going salary increases and so on.  She noted that if they bundle those three 

exceptions which have been approved, they would be able to levy $8.3 million, 

3.12 mils or 7.5% in addition to the stipulated ACT 1 Index.  So in total, if they 

add those together, they would be able to levy 4.6 mils or 11.1% increase in the 

taxes for 2010-11.  She noted that everyone has agreed that is not what they 

have requested.  She stated that they have requested an increase of 6.17% and 

that is still where they are today.  She hopes that this provides some clarity as to 



6 

what they are permitted to do as a comparison to what they have requested.   

 
 

Mrs. Gober continued that she believes that the next question was a series of 

questions that stemmed from a few different angles and approaches and she 

thinks that they have addresses the myriad of bond issue - debt - swap questions 

in one bundle.  She noted the total outstanding debt is $298 million in total 

across the bonds issues that the Districts currently has.  She noted those that are 

in the blue box as traditional fixed-rate debt that has been refinanced over the 

last few years.  She also noted the box in red contains those bonds that are 

variable rate bonds that are related to swap arrangements that are instruments to 

try to mitigate fluctuations in interest rate.  

 



7 

 
 

Mrs. Gober noted that this slide gives a graphical illustration that shows a 

different perspective of looking at where the District was a year ago and where it 

is currently.  She noted the $2.98 million that the District has outstanding is not 

the entire debt limit that it would be able to issue under the State limitations.  

The District would be able to issue another $100 million in debt if it had 

sufficient construction projects to warrant that.  She noted that currently about 

10.9% of the budget is toward debt which is slightly above the average.  

Generally about 10% of the budget is what a rating agency likes to see.  She 

noted that as they look at the two pie charts, the board can see that they have 

worked very diligently to reduce the red portions which are the variable rate and 

as market conditions warrant it they will put that variable rate debt into a fixed 

rate instrument that provides more stability to the District in terms of planning 

future budgets.    

 

 



8 

 
 

She noted that they look at the swaps as an isolated instrument as a subset of the 

variable rate set that exists.  She stated that by doing the most recent refunding 

through 2007 and those most recently in December and January of this year they 

have managed to significantly reduce the amount of tax risk that is associated 

with the swaps that are in place.  She stated that she will be able to explain that 

when they get to a subsequent slide.    

 

 



9 

 
She noted that they have essentially eliminated any Yield Curve Risk which is 

primarily ñwhat does the market interest rate do?ò  so what happens if the Fed 

increases interest rates or what if they reduce interest ratesé what does that do 

to the portfolio and exposure and costs.  She noted that essentially they have 

eliminated that exposure and risk for all intents and purposes. 

 

 



10 

 

 
 

Mrs. Gober stated that another question that was raised last week was ñWhat 

happens if interest rates change?ò  She noted that they looked at this as a small 

example.  As an example, they assumed on the three variable rate notes that they 

have in place that the interest rates would change by a 1% increase to see what 

that would do.  She pointed out the first column labeled ñBondsò.  She stated 

that those are the actual variable rate bonds that they have issued from the 

underlying debt structure.  She continued that they layer the swap on that.  She 

explained that the Fixed Payor Swap tries to offset any increase in interest costs 

that they have on that original variable rate debt with a revenue stream that 

would essentially wash out any market risk that they would have in terms of 

interest rate.  These instruments are working today since the most recent 

refunding in January about as seamlessly as they can.  She noted that there is 

never a perfect, 100% alignment but at this point if they would see rates go one 

full percent higher than what they are today, it would be an exposure to the 

District of about $13,000.  She thinks it is indicative to demonstrate that they 

really have eliminated the huge risks that had been in place a number of years 

ago and are really in a more comfortable position in terms of being able to say 

that they can understand and predict expenditures. 

 

 



11 

 
 

She stated that this slide addresses market risk but it also addresses a little bit of 

what that tax risk was on the previous slide.  Mrs. Gober noted that the interest 

rates on the original bonds that they have, the regular, variable rate debt, are tied 

to a tax exempt municipal financing rate.  She noted in the box on the right 

contains a swap component that takes the variable rate debt and it locks it at 

those center rates at 4.145%, 3.774%, and 3.900%.  She continued that in 

exchange for that fixed output on the Districtôs part they will receive an 

investment earning of a variable rate that is based on LIBOR which is an interest 

rate factor that is a taxable instrument.  It is a taxable market instrument.  She 

explained that is where the tax risk comes into play.  She continued that the tax 

structure would be substantially modified where taxes would rise substantially 

or fall to zero then they would have that disconnect and that would impact the 

amount of money that would need to be paid out or would be received in 

resulting in somewhat of a disconnect.  She further noted that they have 

mitigated most of that obligation and this just explains how the two pieces work 

together and what the underlying factors are that drive the rates that they pay. 

 



12 

 
 

Mr. Washington addressed a question that was raised previously about Thomas 

Jefferson Elementary School.  He believes the question was about the projected 

numbers that Thomas Jefferson is expecting but it is actually about the current 

class sizes.  He wanted to confirm what was said is true and that they have one 

class there that is at 26.  He noted that the range should be somewhere between 

22 and 24 so they are over that class roughly somewhere between 2 and 4 kids.  

He continued on to look at the projected number.  He noted that they are 

projected to be at 56 next year.  Currently they have 30 students that showed up 

for kindergarten registration this year so far.  He continued that if the projections 

stayed the same there will be an estimated class size of 28.  He noted that is 

obviously high and they are watching that but they only had 30 show up and 

they have to get from that 30 to the 56 and that is what they watch.  He stated 

that they would not necessarily apply a teacher right now but they will watch the 

numbers and see throughout the summer and through central registration what 

those numbers will be.  He explained that typically historically they see about 

ten kids come into that school during the summer registration.  He restated that 

they have to watch the numbers for right now.  He explained that they are going 

to go with the projected numbers and put them on a watch. 

 



13 

 
Mr. Washington addressed the inquiry about the declining enrollment at 

Donegan.  He stated that he went to the Child Accounting Department.  He 

noted that Mrs. Majewski was in attendance and would be available to answer 

any questions that may arise.  He explained that they looked at several variables 

that are impacting Donegan. The first is No Child Left Behind ï the Opt Out.  

He explained that if the school does not make AYP, the students have the ability 

to opt out.  This year there were 78 students that choose to opt out of the school.  

Second, there is no new residential construction in the area.   He noted that also 

affects the numbers. Third, he pointed out that there is a declining live birth rate.  

He explained that five years ago there were not that many children born in that 

catchment area.  He continued that the Child Accounting Department actually 

keeps track of that by calling local hospitals.  Fourth, he stated that there are 28 

children enrolled in a charter school.  Fifth, he noted that 12 children are open 

enrolled.  He noted that is different from children that opt out because of NCLB.  

He continued that this is the district policy that allows families to choose another 

elementary school.  Sixth, he stated there is a potential for a dual language 

charter school.  He explained this is one of the reasons why they are watching 

the numbers there carefully because they donôt know what the impact will be 

with that school.  He continued that they take the pure numbers that they have 

based on the projections and they staff at that and continue to watch the 

numbers.  He stated that he has had several conversations with the principal as 

well.  He noted that after the dual language school has their open registration, 

which he believes was last week, they will try to contact them to see what their 

numbers look like so they can start making adjustments.   

 



14 

 

 
Mr. Washington continued to the question regarding the comparison of staffing 

and enrollments at Freedom and Liberty high schools as well as the difference in 

scheduling.   

 

 



15 

 
He explained that he looked at the core classes and their ratios.  He continued 

that they took the ratios of the core classes.  He illustrated with the example of 

English 9.  He noted there are 566 kids who have actually indicated that they 

want to take this class.  That number is then divided by the number of sections 

which gives a ratio.    He explained that at Freedom the process is a little 

different because of a process called teaming where they put kids in a team of 

four teachers.  He further explained that if you take their four teachers in the 

core and the number of students assigned to that team that is the ratio for that 

ninth grade team.  He continued that when 9
th
 grade at Freedom is indicated the 

ratio is going to be 27:1 except when they get into Math and English.  He 

explained that this is because kids who have been pushed up into math and kids 

who are taking different sciences that changes a little bit.  He noted English 10 

on the chart pointing out the different ratios.  He explained that in English at 

Liberty there are about 5 sections of what they call ñcritical literacyò.  He 

explained that those are for students who are struggling but may not be AYP.  

He noted that ratio is a little bit smaller and it was designed that way in order to 

have classes in which students who are having difficulty can have smaller 

environments and have an opportunity to deal with their academics.   

 



16 

 
Mr. Washington continued with the History program.  He stated that he tried to 

do the core with each one.  He explained that those are the numbers of kids who 

have selected divided by the number of sections required to teach them and the 

ratio that comes out.  He noted that US History 3 is a combination of 10
th
 and 

11
th
 graders that is why there is a larger number.  He noted that the ratios are 

calculated the same way for all the courses indicated which are the basic core 

courses in that subject area. 

 

 



17 

 
Mr. Washington moved on to the science courses.  He explained that science is a 

littl e different because there are more students depending on the sequence of 

what they are taking.  He again pointed out that Freedom science deals with the 

teaming and biology at Liberty indicates the number of kids who have selected.  

He continued to mention each class as it is represented at each school.  He noted 

that he did have the numbers for Anatomy & Physiology at Liberty.  He stated 

that it is about 118/4 and the ratio is roughly 29.5:1. 

 

 



18 

 
Mr. Washington explained that the courses are listed in the sequence that the 

students most often experience.  He noted that some of the kids, based on their 

middle school experience, may not go to Algebra I but may begin at Geometry.  

 

 

 



19 

 
Mr. Washington continued on to the question regarding class size and 

particularly regarding the schools that were targeted for reduction.  He explained 

that to the left on the slide above the 09-10 enrollment is indicated with the 

number of classes and the class average.  He continued that one the right is the 

projected enrollment, the reduction in number of classes and the class average at 

that level.  He further explained the detail on the slide. 

 

 

 



20 

 
He indicated the other elementary schools that were impacted by class 

reductions.   

 



21 

 

 
Mr. Washington indicated that this slide illustrates two areas of increase in 

classes.  He noted that the Thomas Jefferson concern regarding the current 

kindergarten classes are being addressed with an increase in the first grade class 

number.   

 

 

He addressed the concern about the possibility of eliminating German from the 

high schools.  It was noted that Liberty was losing a .7 and Freedom was losing 

a .3 for a total 1.0 German teacher.  He stated that they are not eliminating the 

course offering but that the number of students requesting that class has 

decreased so the number of staff required is less.  He noted that the two honors 

classes at Liberty are combined to give them a ratio of 19:1 for the two classes. 

 

 



22 

 
Mr. Washington addressed the administration ratio at the middle schools 

because they are reducing at all four schools.  He noted that the pure projections 

for next year with the number of administrators the ratios are indicated in the 

slide above.  He indicated each line as it shows above.   


